



Cover Image: "ALK positive lung adenocarcinoma -- high mag.jpg" by Nephron is licensed under CC BY-SA 4.0 / Cropped from original.

Contributing authors

James Bezer is a PhD student in Bioengineering at Imperial College London, researching ultrasound-triggered drug therapies

Azmi Rahman studied medical sciences with bioengineering at Imperial College London.

Emily Thomas studied biology at Imperial College London and currently works in the Cancer and Somatic Mutations group at The Wellcome Sanger Institute

Benjamin Fernando is the Chair of Scientists for Labour and works on numerical modelling of wave propagation at the University of Oxford.

Scientists for Labour

Scientists for Labour is a socialist society affiliated to the Labour Party. Our aims are to both promote good science in politics, and promote Labour values in science. More information about Scientists for Labour, including how to join, can be found at https://www.scientistsforlabour.org.uk. You can follow us on Twitter @scientists4lab.

Throughout the COVID-19 crisis, Scientists for Labour are preparing briefings and summaries of the latest research into coronavirus for Labour Party representatives and their staff. If you would like to receive these briefings or have any other queries, please contact Benjamin Fernando: chair@sfl.org.uk.

Aims and Scope

This report details the current state of knowledge on pathology and clinical management of COVID-19.

Whilst every effort has been made to validate the statements made in this report we cannot claim that the report is accurate in every regard. Care should be taken when extrapolating from the questions posed here to actual policy, and it should be noted that the situation is changing very rapidly.

Executive Summary

This report summarises the care pathway for COVID-19 in suspected and confirmed cases, based on clinical care guidelines for NHS professionals in the UK.

COVID-19 is an infectious disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus. It is a respiratory infection, primarily affecting the throat and lungs. It can be asymptomatic, cause a mild illness affecting the nose and throat, or cause a severe illness affecting the lungs. Most patients are asymptomatic or have a mild illness. Antibiotics will have no benefit in treating the viral infection.

There are no specific treatments for COVID-19 that are currently clinically recommended. Care focuses on symptom management, and supporting organ function in severe cases. Oxygen therapy and ventilation are given for reduced lung function, to ensure patients receive the necessary airflow into their lungs. Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP), providing pressurised oxygen to the patient via a tightly fitting face mask, is the preferred method of breathing support recommended by NHS England. If this is insufficient, mechanical ventilation (requiring an ICU bed) is offered. Of all patients in the UK admitted to hospital, two thirds received ventilation within 24 hours of admission.

There is a strong global effort to identify new treatments for COVID-19 and emerging treatments are currently being fast tracked through clinical trials.



Contents

1.	,	How Infection Occurs	4
2.	,	Illness Classification and Symptoms	4
3.	,	How COVID-19 causes Death	5
4.	,	Clinical Management	5
	4.3	1 Diagnosis and Imaging	5
	4.2	2 Management of Mild Cases	5
	4.3	3 Management of Cases Requiring Hospital Admission	5
	4.4	1 Intensive Care	6
	4.5	5 Ventilation (Oxygen and Breathing Support)	7
	4.6	6 Extra-Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO)	8
5.	,	Emerging Treatments for COVID-19.	8
	5.2	1 How are treatments being found?	9
	5.2	2 What are the types of potential emerging treatments?	9
	5.3	3 How treatments are being assessed	9
	5.4	4 What can the UK government do to help develop treatments? 1	0
6.		References	1



1. How Infection Occurs

COVID-19 is disease caused by the virus SARS-CoV-2, a member of a family of viruses known as *Coronaviridae*. This family also includes the viruses that cause SARS, MERS, and the common cold¹.

COVID-19 primarily affects the lungs and respiratory system, but has also been seen to affect the digestive and nervous systems. Many details of the mechanisms by which the virus affects the body remain unknown.

The virus is spread predominantly by droplets from the mouth and nose, due to coughs and sneezes, and also quiet exhalation. There are no reports of airborne transmission (where the virus can spread in the air in the absence of fluid)^{2,3}. It is unclear whether transmission may occur through other body fluids.

A small number of studies suggest that some people can be contagious during the incubation period, the time between exposure to the virus and the onset of symptoms. The incubation period is estimated to be around 5 to 7 days, although there is a wide range around this⁴. Of those who develop symptoms, this occurs within 11.5 days of infection in approximately 97.5% of cases⁵.

It is believed that many cases may be completely asymptomatic. Estimating how common this is, however, is quite difficult, and studies have produced values as wide ranging as between 4% and 80% of those infected⁶.

2. Illness Classification and Symptoms

Those who are infected with the virus can be affected in 4 ways: they may be asymptomatic, have mild illness, develop a lung infection (pneumonia), or develop a severe pneumonia⁷.

It is unclear how many patients are asymptomatic (no sign of illness), but it is suspected to be a large proportion of infected individuals⁸.

80% of symptomatic patients have a mild illness (fever, fatigue, cough, headache, lack of appetite, tiredness, muscle discomfort, nose congestion). Rarely, patients with mild illness may also have gastrointestinal symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, and diarrhoea. Around 90% of patients have more than one symptom, and 15% have a combination of fever, cough, and shortness of breath⁹.

14% of symptomatic patients have severe symptoms, where the infection spreads in the lungs and causes fluid buildup, making it harder to breathe, and harder to clear and treat. 5% of symptomatic patients develop pneumonia that is severe enough to be life threatening⁷.

Older people, those with underlying health conditions (such as high blood pressure and diabetes), and those on immunosuppressive medication (transplant patients, HIV) are significantly more likely to develop severe illness. These patients often start with mild symptoms, but have a high risk of deterioration^{7,10}.



3. How COVID-19 causes Death

The infection most commonly begins in the upper respiratory tract, causing common throat-related symptoms (such as sore throat and cough). If it is does not clear, the infection can travel into the lungs¹¹.

This lung infection results in inflammation of the lung tissue (a condition called pneumonia). This process causes fluid buildup, preventing the lung from breathing effectively. The greater the fluid buildup, the harder it is to breathe. This causes low oxygen in blood, inducing rapid breathing, bluing skin (cyanosis), confusion – a group of symptoms called acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). If this is not promptly treated with anti-inflammatory medication and supplemental oxygen, this will cause respiratory arrest and death¹¹.

Patients with COVID-19 can occasionally become severely unwell, with very poor lung function and low oxygen levels, but without any obvious symptoms, or even feeling especially unwell themselves. These individuals can deteriorate very rapidly without warning¹⁰.

The effect of the virus can make the immune system less able to suppress other infections. Secondary bacterial infections are common in seriously ill patients, contributing to illnesses such as bacterial pneumonia or sepsis⁷.

4. Clinical Management

There are currently no specific medications approved for COVID-19 infections. Care is focused on relieving symptoms, and supporting organ function in more severe cases.

4.1 Diagnosis and Imaging

The management of a patient suspected to have a COVID-19 infection is strongly dependent on the severity of a patient's symptoms and signs (see 'How the virus causes death').

All patients suspected to have COVID-19 will receive a throat swab test, which tests for the presence of COVID-19 viral DNA in the throat. Blood oxygen levels will also be assessed¹².

4.2 Management of Mild Cases

Most cases are mild and can be managed at home during self-isolation, with rest, sufficient hydration, and taking over-the-counter non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as paracetamol or ibuprofen¹³. Some anecdotal reports have suggested that ibuprofen could worsen COVID-19. There is currently no strong evidence to support this¹⁴.

4.3 Management of Cases Requiring Hospital Admission

A patient will be admitted to hospital if they have severe symptoms, or if the patient has less severe illness but suffers from pre-existing conditions or risk factors that make them more likely to deteriorate rapidly. The median time from onset of symptoms to hospital admission is approximately 7 days¹³.

Tests done in hospitals

In these patients, blood tests to assess inflammation, and presence of other infections, may be needed.

In all patients where pneumonia (lung infection and inflammation) is suspected, a chest x-ray is performed to look for presence of inflammation and fluid build-up in lungs. This affects one lung in 25% of patients, and both lungs in 75% of patients¹⁵. In occasional cases where chest X-ray isn't clear, CT or ultrasound imaging is performed.



Whilst in hospital, patient vital signs (heart rate, blood pressure, breathing rate, blood oxygen level) and other infection-related blood levels are monitored.

Treatment of COVID-19

Medical care is provided on a case-by-case basis, based on results of tests and an understanding of the cause of symptoms. In general, the following 2 symptoms/signs are addressed as follows:-

Low Oxygen and Breathlessness: Patients with low blood oxygen levels (<94%) will be given supplemental oxygen⁷. Details of different methods of ventilation are discussed below (see *'Ventilation'*).

Cough: As coughing is a bodily response to clearing the throat, patients are sat up. Medication is offered if cough is severe¹³.

Anti-coagulation: New data shows that COVID-19 increases the risk of clotting in adults, which can cause blood clots in the lung that make it hard to breathe, and clots in the brain that cause irreversible damage (stroke)¹⁶. Anti-coagulants are given to minimise this risk.

How Treatment is offered

In patients with severe symptoms, a clinical frailty score is performed to assess if intensive care is likely to benefit the patient. Patients who are very frail, or who otherwise are not expected to benefit from intensive care, are usually referred instead to end of life care if their condition deteriorates. These decisions are taken in discussion with the patients and their families wherever possible¹⁷.

SARS-CoV-2 and Antibiotics

SARS-CoV-2 is a virus, and antibiotics are ineffective and are not routinely given. Some patients develop secondary bacterial infections, such as bacterial pneumonia or sepsis, which are treated with antibiotics. Because of the risk of antibiotic resistance, and of promoting infections by resistant bacteria such as *C. Difficile*, antibiotics are not recommended as a preventative measure in COVID-19 patients, except in some at high risk of complications¹⁸.

4.4 Intensive Care

Hospital Intensive Care Units (ICU) are reserved for the most severely ill patients, who cannot be cared for sufficiently on a general ward. ICUs provide close monitoring of patients, and advanced life support techniques to keep a person alive when their organs may be failing.

The goal of intensive care medicine is to closely monitor patients and support organ function, to keep patients alive long enough for them to recover from an illness that may otherwise have killed them.

An ICU bed generally includes 1 nurse directly monitoring the patient at all times¹⁹, while less severely ill patients may be treated in high dependency units, which provide a slightly lower intensity of care and staffing levels. Higher staffing is associated with lower mortality in ICU¹⁹.

Intensive care can provide a wide range of care, including mechanical ventilation and kidney dialysis. Cannulas are placed into the large veins in the neck or chest, to provide fluids, medication, or nutrition to a patient who cannot eat. Patients are not necessarily comatose, although they are usually given sedatives to manage pain and if intubated (to prevent choking)²⁰.



4.5 Ventilation (Oxygen and Breathing Support)

Breathing support is provided to all patients who have difficulty breathing, or have low blood oxygen levels.

The choice of breathing support, and the settings used on each device, such as concentration of oxygen and air pressures used, are tuned to maintain the patient's blood oxygen saturation at a target level. This is measured continuously via an infrared monitor on the finger, and may be periodically measured by arterial blood sampling from the wrist in more seriously ill patients.

NHS England recommends an oxygen saturation target of 92-96%. Excess oxygen saturation (>98%) is abnormal and causes oxygen toxicity²¹.

Breathing support can be provided through multiple, increasingly invasive methods. These are listed below²².

Supplemental Oxygen needed?	Breathing support needed?	Delivery Method
Yes	No	Nasal prongs, face masks
Yes	Mild	CPAP*
Yes	Full	Mechanical Ventilation
		(Requires Intensive Care)

^{*}CPAP (described below) is recommended by NHS England as the primary mode of breathing support in patients with reduced blood oxygen saturation due to COVID-19.

Nasal Prongs/Face Masks

Oxygen given via a simple nose tube or facemask. This increases the oxygen going into the lungs, but no pressure is exerted to induce breathing²².

Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP)

Patients who find it difficult but are still able to breathe independently may be supported with Continuous Positive Airway Pressure. An airtight mask is placed over either the nose or the whole face, and oxygen is provided at higher than atmospheric pressure. This helps to open up the lungs, making it easier for the patient to breathe²³.

There is some concern that the high pressure oxygen used in CPAP may increase the spread of virus droplets around the patient, especially if the mask is not well sealed. Healthcare providers must therefore take care to protect themselves¹⁷.

In some centres, CPAP has been provided via a plastic helmet or hood, which covers the entire head. This may be more comfortable for patients, whilst providing a better seal, and reducing the risk of droplet spread²⁴.

Mechanical Ventilation

If a patient becomes unable to breathe well enough on their own, or with non-invasive support, mechanical ventilation may be used. This forces oxygen into the lungs periodically, directly controlling the depth and timing of each breath²².

Ventilation is most often provided by inserting a tube into their windpipe (tracheal intubation), which is connected to a ventilator. Alternatives such as a laryngeal mask (which sits just above the windpipe) as well²².



Modern ventilators are complex and have a wide range of settings, which can be optimised to each patient. A ventilator may be used when a patient is able to initiate breaths themselves, where it senses the patient's attempts to breathe, and provides assistance in time with this. In patients with poorer lung function, the ventilator will control the timing and depth of breaths independently²².

The ventilator provides a higher baseline air pressure than atmospheric pressure, to stop the lungs from becoming totally deflated. This pressure is known as the Positive End-Expiratory Pressure (PEEP). High PEEP may be necessary if breathing is very poor, but is harmful to patients whose lungs are still able to inflate and deflate normally. NHS England recommends a low PEEP in these patients^{17,18}.

Two-thirds of COVID-19 patients who required critical care in the UK had mechanical ventilation within 24 hours of admission²⁵. This is due to the inability to transfer oxygen from the lungs to the blood. Survival rates for patients intubated are around 50%, although this reflects the severity of illness required for a decision to be made to intubate²⁶.

It is becoming increasingly common to ventilate patients in the prone position, lying on their front. This may improve the transfer of oxygen into the blood, because the parts of the lungs with the best blood supply are less compressed by other organs, such as the liver, enabling better gas exchange^{7,17,18,27}.

Weaning

Weaning refers to taking a patient of ventilation. This needs to be carefully planned, as a patient who becomes dependent on ventilation will not be able to breathe independently afterward. If patients are expected not to be able to wean off ventilation effectively, that may result in ventilation causing a higher risk than benefit, where ventilation may not be offered to the patient¹⁷.

4.6 Extra-Corporeal Membrane Oxygenation (ECMO)

ECMO is used to provide oxygen to a person whose lungs are not functioning well enough to support them, even with a ventilator. Large cannulas are fed into the heart via the veins or arteries in the neck. These take blood out of the body, where it is saturated with oxygen, before returning it back to the heart. This can ensure the body maintains a good supply of oxygenated blood even in cases of near-total lung failure. This carries risk of clotting, bleeding, infections, and kidney damage, which are avoided unless necessary¹⁷.

While ECMO can prolong life in patients who would otherwise die, it cannot cure those suffering from multiple organ failure. ECMO is therefore only recommended for patients who have a realistic chance of recovery²⁸. Preliminary data on the use of ECMO in patients with COVID-19 is not promising, although it may play a useful role in clinical salvaging of select patients²⁹.

5. Emerging Treatments for COVID-19

With accelerated vaccine programmes unlikely to yield a widely available vaccine in less than 12-18 months managing COVID-19 symptoms at an early stage is vital. Drugs could be given to the already ill or potentially to those at high risk of infection prophylactically³⁰.



5.1 How are treatments being found?

It is not uncommon for a de novo drug to take at least a decade from initial discovery to approved population wide use. This time includes randomised clinical trials to test the drug which take years alone. Due to the urgent need for treatments for COVID-19, key strategies for accelerating this process include: 1) repurposing existing drugs, 2) considering unapproved drugs which have done well in animal studies against similar coronaviruses and 3) accelerated clinical trials, such as the WHO SOLIDARITY trial which aims to reduce trial time by $80\%^{30,31}$.

5.2 What are the types of potential emerging treatments?

Emerging treatments fall into three categories:

- 1. Antiviral drugs that directly affect the coronavirus's ability to thrive inside the body
- 2. Drugs that can calm the immune system patients become seriously ill when their immune system overreacts and starts causing collateral damage to the body
- 3. Antibodies, either from survivors' blood or made in a lab, that can attack the virus³²

Antiviral Drugs: Those available rely on the similarity of SARS-CoV-2 to other viruses. However, as they have been specifically developed for treating a different virus, efficacy against SARS-CoV-2 may differ³³.

Immune System Modulation: This emphasises the importance of understanding the body's response to the virus. The immune response may cause much of the damage to the lungs and targeting the virus without targeting the immune response may not change the patient's prognosis. A combined approach with antivirals may be required. However, dampening the immune system may also increase susceptibility to other infections³⁴.

Antibodies: Antibodies are defensive proteins produced by the body in response to the virus. This therapy is based on the idea that survivors will have produced neutralising antibodies which are present in their plasma (the liquid component of blood). It is important to note that some antibodies have been associated with a worsening of patient prognosis in response to similar viruses highlighting the importance of understanding the role of antibodies in response to COVID-19³⁵.

5.3 How treatments are being assessed

Numerous accelerated clinical trials are being conducted globally. 1,509 clinical trials have been registered and 145 drugs identified as potential candidates as of 22/04/2020³¹. In an attempt to coordinate the international clinical trial landscape, the WHO has launched the SOLIDARITY master protocol establishing consistent end points, control arms and inclusion—exclusion criteria. This aims to increase the value of the emerging trial data set³⁶.

This umbrella trial, SOLIDARITY, is being conducted by the WHO to test four potential treatments:

- 1. **Remdesivir:** Antiviral previously tested as an Ebola treatment. It has promising results in animal studies for similar coronaviruses Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS-CoV) and severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS).
- 2. **Chloroquine or Hydroxychloroquine:** Used to treat malaria. In China and France, small studies provided some indications of possible benefit of chloroquine against pneumonia caused by COVID-19 but need confirmation through randomized trials.



- 3. **Lopinavir with Ritonavir:** Licensed treatment for HIV. While there are indications from laboratory experiments that this combination may be effective against COVID-19, studies done so far in COVID-19 patients have been inconclusive.
- 4. **Lopinavir with Ritonavir plus Interferon beta-1a:** Inteferon beta-1a belongs to a class of molecules among the first to be produced by the body against viruses^{31, 37}.

Countries have the option of adding other treatment arms to their trial as necessary³¹. The first results could be expected in 12-16 weeks (estimated late Summer onwards)³⁸.

Another large trial is based in the UK, RECOVERY (in hospital trial). RECOVERY is led by a team at the University of Oxford and has over 5000 participants. The study has received £2.1 million from UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) and the Department of Health and Social Care, through the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR). This is part of the £20 million rapid research response investment by the government to support looking at ways to tackle the coronavirus outbreak³⁹.

Two other key UK trials are PRINCIPLE (higher risk patients in primary care trial) and REMAP-CAP (critically ill patient trial)⁴⁰.

A nationwide trial investigating plasma treatment, with more than 600 participants, is currently underway in the US^{41} . The NHS Blood and Transplant Centre is currently reaching out to COVID-19 survivors for a similar trial in the UK^{42} .

5.4 What can the UK government do to help develop treatments?

- 1. Can the government expand on what efforts it is undertaking to support therapeutic research and clinical trials?
- 2. Has the government expanded the collection of statistics at every stage of the treatment process, to ensure that efficacy can be better evaluated in both close-to-real-time, and in subsequent analyses; especially for non-pharmaceutical treatments?
- 3. Can the government expand on how they aim to reduce legislative hurdles to accelerate clinical trials and grant approval for new emergency therapeutics?
- 4. Many of the most promising drugs currently in clinical trials are estimated to be cheap to manufacture. One day's supply of remdesivir is estimated to cost \$0.93 to manufacture. Following the call led by Doctors without Borders, can the government expand on their plans to ensure that limited supply and patent protection do not inhibit the affordability of potential emerging treatments?⁴³
- 5. Can the government expand on their plans to ensure that should a promising foreign-developed treatment be found to be effective for COVID-19, the UK will have access to the drug?⁴⁴
- 6. Given that no pharmaceutical products have yet been shown to be safe and effective for the treatment of COVID-19 but many may be promising. And, given the need to preserve stocks of these drugs to treat the illnesses for which they are designed and be maintained for use in clinical trials. Can the government expand on their plans for allowing compassionate use?



6. References

- [1] Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020 Feb 20;382(8):727-33.
- [2] Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020 Feb 15;395(10223):497-506.
- [3] Burke RM, Midgley CM, Dratch A, et al. Active monitoring of persons exposed to patients with confirmed COVID-19 United States, January-February 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020 Mar 6;69(9):245-6.
- [4] Lauer SA, Grantz KH, Bi Q, et al. The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) from publicly reported confirmed cases: estimation and application. Ann Intern Med. 2020 Mar 10.
- [5] Lauer, S.A., Grantz, K.H., Bi, Q., Jones, F.K., Zheng, Q., Meredith, H.R., Azman, A.S., Reich, N.G. and Lessler, J., 2020. The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) from publicly reported confirmed cases: estimation and application. Annals of internal medicine.
- [6] Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine; Heneghan C, Brassey J, Jefferson T. COVID-19: What proportion are asymptomatic? 2020.
- [7] World Health Organization. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) when COVID-19 disease is suspected. 2020 [internet publication].
- [8] Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine; Heneghan C, Brassey J, Jefferson T. COVID-19: What proportion are asymptomatic? 2020 [internet publication].
- [9] Sun P, Qie S, Liu Z, et al. Clinical characteristics of 50466 hospitalized patients with 2019-nCoV infection. J Med Virol. 2020 Feb 28 [Epub ahead of print].
- [10] Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Emergency Response Epidemiology Team. The epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) in China [in Chinese]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi. 2020 Feb 17;41(2):145-51.
- [11] Cascella M, Rajnik M, Cuomo A, Dulebohn SC, Napoli RD. Features, Evaluation and Treatment Coronavirus (COVID-19). StatPearls 2020 [internet publication].
- [12] World Health Organization. Laboratory testing for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in suspected human cases. 2020 [internet publication].
- [13] National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. COVID-19 rapid guideline: managing symptoms (including at the end of life) in the community. 2020 [internet publication].
- [14] National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. COVID-19 rapid evidence summary: acute use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for people with or at risk of COVID-19. 2020 [internet publication].
- [15] Song F, Shi N, Shan F, et al. Emerging coronavirus 2019-nCoV pneumonia. Radiology. 2020 Feb 6:200274.
- [16] NHS England and NHS Improvement. Clinical guide for the management of anticoagulant services during the coronavirus pandemic. 2020 [internet publication].



- [17] National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. COVID-19 rapid guideline: critical care in adults. 2020 [internet publication].
- [18] National Institutes of Health. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) treatment guidelines. 2020 [internet publication].
- [19] Khan JM, Goss CH, Heagerty PJ, Kramer AA, O'Brien CR, Rubenfeld GD. Hospital Volume and the Outcomes of Mechanical Ventilation. N Engl J Med 2006; 355:41-50. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsa053993.
- [20] Ghatehorde NK, Regunath H. Intubation Endotracheal Tube Medications. StatPearls 2019 [internet publication].
- [21] NHS England and NHS Improvement. Clinical guide for the optimal use of Oxygen therapy during the coronavirus pandemic. 2020 [internet publication].
- [22] Bateman NT, Leach RM. ABC of oxygen. Acute oxygen therapy. *BMJ*. 1998;317(7161):798-801. doi:10.1136/bmj.317.7161.798
- [23] McEnery T, Gough C, Costello RW. COVID-19: respiratory support outside the intensive care unit. Lancet Respir Med. 2020 Apr 9 [Epub ahead of print].
- [24] Matthay MA, Aldrich JM, Gotts JE. Treatment for severe acute respiratory distress syndrome from COVID-19. Lancet Respir Med. 2020 Mar 20 [Epub ahead of print].
- [25] Mahase E. COVID-19: most patients require mechanical ventilation in first 24 hours of critical care. BMJ. 2020 Mar 24;368:m1201.
- [26] Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre. Report on COVID-19 in critical care. 2020 [internet publication].
- [27] American Thoracic Society; Wilson KC, Chotirmall SH, Bai C, et al. COVID-19: interim guidance on management pending empirical evidence. 2020 [internet publication].
- [28] NHS England. Clinical guide for extra corporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) for respiratory failure in adults during the coronavirus pandemic. 2020 [internet publication].
- [29] Jacobs JP, Stammers AH, St Louis J, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in the treatment of severe pulmonary and cardiac compromise in COVID-19: experience with 32 patients. ASAIO J. 2020 Apr 17 [Epub ahead of print].
- [30] Kupferschmidt K, Cohen J. WHO launches global megatrial of the four most promising coronavirus treatments. Science. 2020 Mar 22.
- [31] WHO. "Solidarity" clinical trial for COVID-19 treatments. Accessed: 2020, 22 Apr [internet publication]
- [32] Gallager J. Coronavirus cure: When will we have a drug to treat it? BBC. 2020, 22 Apr. [internet publication]
- [33] Barlow A, Landolf KM, Barlow B, Yeung SY, Heavner JJ, Claassen CW, Heavner MS. Review of emerging pharmacotherapy for the treatment of coronavirus disease 2019. Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy. 2020 Apr 7.
- [34] Kupferschmidt K. These drugs don't target the coronavirus—they target us. Science. 2020 Apr 2.



- [35] Cao X. COVID-19: immunopathology and its implications for therapy. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2020 Apr 9:1-2.
- [36] Mullard A. Coordinating the COVID-19 pipeline. Nature reviews. Drug discovery. 2020 Apr 8.
- [37] Sallard E, Lescure FX, Yazdanpanah Y, Mentre F, Peiffer-Smadja N, Florence AD, et al. Type 1 interferons as a potential treatment against COVID-19. Antiviral Research. 2020 Apr 7:104791.
- [38] Mullard A. Flooded by the torrent: the COVID-19 drug pipeline. The Lancet. 2020 Apr 18;395(10232):1245-6.
- [39] Department of Health and Social Care. World's largest trial of potential coronavirus treatments rolled out across the UK. 2020 Apr 3. [Press release]
- [40] Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Novel Coronavirus: Clinical Trials. CEM/CMO/2020/012. 2020 Apr 01. [MHRA Central Alert]
- [41] Morelle R. Coronavirus: Plasma treatment to be trialled. BBC. 2020 Apr 20. [internet publication]
- [42] NHS Blood and Transplant Service. Could you donate plasma to help treat coronavirus (COVID-19) patients? Accessed: 2020 Apr 29. [internet publication]
- [43] Service RF. Would-be coronavirus drugs are cheap to make. Science. 2020 Apr 10.
- [44] Gray A. The hunt for an effective treatment for COVID-19. The Pharmaceutical Journal. 2020 Apr 09.